WOOA

 $\mathbf{FILED}$ 

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAN 21 1993

CLERK,	SUPREMI	E COUR
By——Ch	lef Deputy	Clerk

RICHARD SUGGS a/k/a TIMOTHY BOMAR a/k/a DENNIS BOMAR,	)
Petitioner, vs.	)
STATE OF FLORIDA,	)
Respondent.	)

CASE NO. 80,529

### PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JAMES B. GIBSON
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

JAMES R. WULCHAK
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
CHIEF, APPELLATE DIVISION
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0249238
112 Orange Ave., Suite A
Daytona Beach, FL 32114
(904) 252-3367

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

#

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner Suggs appealed to the District Court of Appeal, Fifth District, following his conviction for grand theft. On appeal, the district affirmed the petitioner's judgment and sentence over a claim that the state had been permitted to improperly utilize a peremptory challenge on a black member of the jury panel without being able to provide a sufficient race neutral reason for the challenge. Suggs v. State, 603 So.2d 6 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992). (Appendix A) In so doing, the district court did not rule on the merits of the claim, but rather on what the court perceived to be an improper preservation of the issue. Id.

During jury selection, the state had excused Juror Green, the only black member of the jury panel up to that point

in the selection process. 1 (R 42) Upon defense counsel's objection to the peremptory challenge, the trial court required the state to provide its reason for striking Mr. Green. (R 42) state initially admitted that it did not have a reason for the peremptory challenge. However, when pushed by the court for a reason, the state indicated that the potential juror had stated that, because the defendant had previous convictions, he would look closely at the evidence. (R 42-43; see R 36) Suggs v. State, supra. The court responded that this reason appeared to be one that would cause the defense to desire the juror stricken, not the state. (R 43) However, the court then ruled that the defense had not met its burden, and allowed Juror Green to be stricken, noting that there was "a tremendous overreaction to these Neil inquiries." (R 44) Following the completion of jury selection, the court inquired whether the panel was acceptable, to which the defense replied, "That's acceptable, your Honor, other than our prior objection to the striking of number one. " Suggs v. State, supra.

The defendant filed a motion for new trial, alleging, inter alia, that the court erred in allowing the state to exercise a peremptory challenge to strike Juror Green from the jury.

(R 220-221) The court denied the motion for new trial, stating

¹Although the district court opinion states that the defendant had previously struck another black potential juror, the record belies this claim. At R 42, defense counsel notes that Mr. Green was the only black juror on the panel so far. While the State notes that Juror Morter, who was stricken by the defense, was a member of a minority, it appears that she was not a black, but rather an hispanic. (See R 43-44)

that although the state could not give an adequate reason for its peremptory challenge, the court had a "feeling" that the juror was not struck for racial reasons. (R 174-175)

The district court, in affirming the defendant's conviction, ruled that in order to properly preserve the issue of the state's use of a racially-motivated challenge, the defense must not only object to the challenge (as was done here), but must also move to strike the entire jury panel. Relying on and quoting from its prior ruling in <u>Joiner v. State</u>, 593 So.2d 554 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992), jurisdiction accepted, Fla. Sup. Ct. Case No. 79,567, the district court stated:

Neither the language used by the defense in calling the court's attention to the possibility of racially motivated strikes nor his language expressing disagreement with the trial court's ruling rise to the level of a request that the trial judge obtain a different jury panel, continue the trial, or declare a mistrial.

Suggs v. State, supra. Although Suggs had objected to the challenge and further took exception with the trial court's denial of his objection, by accepting the panel "other than our prior objection to the striking of number one," the district court affirmed because of lack of preservation since "defense counsel did not move to strike the jury panel before the members were sworn." Id.

The petitioner filed a motion for rehearing and rehearing en banc, arguing that in adopting this requirement for moving to strike the entire jury venire in order to preserve the issue

for appeal, the district court was ruling that the only appropriate remedy where racially-motivated challenges have been utilized is to strike the entire jury panel. Otherwise, the petitioner contended on rehearing, simply objecting to the striking of the particular juror and taking exception to the state's explanation to the strike would seem entirely sufficient to preserve the issue for appeal. In making this ruling, the petitioner argued, the district court had ignored or overlooked this Court's holding in Jefferson v. State, 595 So.2d 38 (Fla. 1992) (which case had been cited by Suggs as supplemental authority prior to oral argument in the case), that the sole remedy of such a raciallymotivated challenge is not the striking of the entire panel. Rather, the party may seek, and the trial court may order, the seating of the improperly challenged juror (which this Court indicated may, in fact, be the preferred remedy). <u>Jefferson v.</u> State, supra at 40. Therefore, the petitioner contended, the issue was properly preserved by counsel's objecting to the challenge and taking exception to the trial court's ruling, as was done in the instant case. The district court denied rehearing and rehearing en banc.

Following a notice to invoke discretionary jurisdiction and jurisdictional briefs, this Court granted jurisdiction. This brief on the merits follows.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The opinion of the District Court of Appeal, Fifth District, improperly establishes new requirements for obtaining review of the state's use of a racially-motivated peremptory challenge, to-wit: the defense must move to strike the entire, otherwise acceptable, jury venire in order to preserve the issue for appeal. However, the issue should be adequately preserved for appeal where the defense has objected to the state's chal-Here, the defendant timely and properly objected to the lenge. state's backstrike on the black juror. The burden then shifted to the state to justify the peremptory challenge on race neutral The state clearly failed to carry this burden; the state's explanation of its peremptory challenge of the sole black juror from the jury box was clearly insufficient. The court's overruling of defendant's objection to the challenge violated the defendant's federal and Florida constitutional rights to a fair, impartial jury.

#### ARGUMENT

DEFENSE COUNSEL PROPERLY PRESERVED FOR REVIEW THE STATE'S USE OF A PEREMPTORY CHALLENGE TO THE ONLY BLACK JUROR ON THE POTENTIAL PANEL WHERE THE REASON GIVEN BY THE PROSECUTOR WAS INSUFFICIENT AND PRETEXTUAL.

An individual's right to an impartial jury representing a cross-section of the community is guaranteed by Article I, §16, Florida Constitution, and the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution. The purpose of peremptory challenges used during jury selection is to promote the selection of an impartial jury. "It was not intended that such challenges be used solely as a scalpel to excise a distinct racial group from a representative cross-section of society. It was not intended that such challenges be used to encroach upon the constitutional guarantee of an impartial jury." State v. Neil, 457 So.2d 481, 486 (Fla. 1984); See also Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79 (1986).

Here, the state utilized a peremptory challenge to backstrike the lone black juror in the jury box which it had previously accepted. Upon objection from the defense, the court required the state to give its reason for the use of the peremptory. Initially, the state indicated that it did not have a reason for the strike; however, when pushed by the court, it gave a pretextual, insufficient reason for the excusal. The state indicated that it was striking Mr. Green because, upon being told that the defendant had prior felony convictions, he said he would

examine the evidence closely. That reason is simply not sufficient.

The District Court of Appeal, Fifth District, refused to address the merits of this claim on appeal. Instead, the court ruled that, despite the defendant's objection, despite the trial court requiring the state to give its reason for the peremptory challenge, and despite the defendant taking exception to the trial court's ruling and allowing the juror to be stricken, the defendant somehow failed to properly preserve the issue for appeal. The district court ruled that an additional step, asking that the entire jury venire be stricken, was necessary to preserve the issue for appeal.

The Florida Supreme Court and other District Courts of Appeal have never required that the moving party move to replace the entire venire in order to preserve review of a <u>Neil</u> issue. To require such action ignores the fact that other, less severe remedies, short of striking the entire panel, may be applied by the trial court. The opinion of the district court, in <u>Suggs v. State</u>, 603 So.2d 6 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992), stating that a party must move to strike the entire, otherwise acceptable, jury venire in order to preserve an objection to a racially-discriminatory peremptory challenge, is erroneous and must be vacated.

This Court established the procedure under <u>State v.</u>

<u>Neil</u>, 457 So.2d 481 (Fla. 1984), to protect a party from constitutionally impermissible prejudice where the opposing party has used its peremptory challenges to exclude a distinct racial group

from serving on the jury. Nowhere in that case does the Court require the procedure for preservation undertaken by the Fifth District in the instant case and in <u>Joiner v. State</u>, 593 So.2d 554 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992), jurisdiction accepted, Fla. Sup. Ct. Case No. 79,567. <u>See Jefferson v. State</u>, 595 So.2d 38 (Fla. 1992). The fact that the parties ultimately picked a panel from the venire does not remove the taint of racially motivated challenges. The precedent in this area has also established that the issue is preserved for appeal when a defendant timely objects, demonstrates that the challenged jurors are black, and establishes the likelihood that the peremptory challenges resulted from impermissible bias.

The proper procedure in order to preserve a <u>Neil</u> issue for review, was referred to in <u>State v. Castillo</u>, 486 So.2d 565 (Fla. 1986). This Court in <u>Castillo</u> found that the procedure was outlined in <u>Neil</u>, <u>supra</u>. The procedure is as follows:

A party concerned about the other sides' use of peremptory challenges must make a timely objection and demonstrate on the record that the challenged persons are members of a distinct racial group and that there is a strong likelihood that they have been challenged solely because of their race. If a party accomplishes this, then the trial court must decide if there is a substantial likelihood that the peremptory challenges are being exercised solely on the basis of race. If the court finds no such likelihood no inquiry may be made of the person exercising the questioned peremptory. the other hand, if the court decides that such a likelihood has been shown to exist, the burden shifts to the complained-about party to show that the questioned challenges were not exercised

solely because of the respective jurors' race. . . . If the party shows that the challenges were based on the particular case on trial, the parties or witnesses, or characteristics of the challenged person other than race, then the inquiry should end and jury selections should continue. On the other hand if the party has actually been challenging prospective jurors solely on the basis of race, then the court should dismiss that jury pool and start voir dire over with a new pool.

Neil, 457 So.2d at 486-487. There is no requirement, however, that the complaining party move to dismiss the panel, or move for mistrial.

In the instant case, the defense counsel followed the procedure outlined above. There was an objection to the State's challenge as being racially motivated. The court required the prosecutor to provide a reason for these challenges. The State then provided its alleged race neutral reason. The trial court determined that the inquiry was based on a reason other than the prospective juror's race. At this point, according to Neil, supra, the inquiries should end and jury selection should contin-(The defense even went further here and took exception to the ruling prior to the jury panel being accepted and sworn.) The trial court was only required to dismiss the jury pool if it was determined that the challenge had been based on the juror's In Bryant v. State, 565 So.2d 1298, 1300 (Fla. 1990), "we find that this record demonstrates that the appellants satisfied their burden. They timely objected, demonstrated that the challenged jurors were black, and established a likelihood that

the peremptory challenges resulted from impermissible bias, specifically, that the State exercised five of its first seven peremptory excusals against black persons." This was the same procedure used to preserve the objection in the instant case. Thus, according to <a href="https://example.com/Bryant">Bryant</a>, the issue was properly preserved for appeal.

Furthermore, in the case of <u>Jefferson v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, this Court found that striking the entire panel is not the exclusive remedy to be used for discriminatory peremptory challenges. "The rationale behind striking the entire jury pool is to provide the complaining party with a proper venue and not one that has been partially or totally stripped of the potential jurors through the use of discriminatory peremptory challenges." <u>Jefferson</u>, <u>supra</u>. This Court authorized the remedy chosen by the trial judge in <u>Jefferson</u>, which was to seat the impermissibly challenged juror. This decision therefore is at direct odds with the District Court's decision in the instant case which seems to indicate that the sole remedy, and thus a requirement for preservation, is to move to strike the entire jury or move for a mistrial. According to <u>Jefferson</u>, though, this action is not required of defense counsel. The Third District has recently cited <u>Jefferson</u>, <u>supra</u>, as authority in ruling that the error is adequately preserved simply upon a showing that a timely objection was interposed and overruled. Law v. State, 17 FLW D2747 (Fla. 3d DCA December 8, 1992).

The district court opinion here faults the defendant

for failure to object to the "composition of the jury panel."

Suggs v. State, supra at 8 (emphasis added). This ruling completely ignores the purpose of a Neil inquiry. The inquiry is made in an effort to assure "a vigorously impartial system of selecting jurors based on the Florida Constitution's explicit guarantee of an impartial trial. See Art. I, §6, Fla. Const."

State v. Slappy, 522 So.2d 18, 21 (Fla. 1988). The ultimate goal of conducting the procedure set forth in Neil is of course to protect a defendant's right to an impartial jury. However, the review of a Neil inquiry focuses on the manner in which the peremptory challenges were made, and the possibility of an underlying improper motivating factor. As this Court stated in Kibler v. State, 546 So.2d 710, 714 (Fla. 1989), "[T]he Neil inquiry must necessarily focus on the reasons given by the prosecutor for making the challenge." (emphasis added)

In ruling that Mr. Suggs "failed to preserve his objection to the composition of the jury panel," the district court wholly disregards the reason the defendant lodged his objection, and ignores the point behind a Neil inquiry. Just because the state, over defense objection, has successfully excluded a black venireperson from sitting on the panel, does not necessarily mean that the remaining jurors are not qualified to hear the case as impartial jurors and should be replaced. An objection pursuant to Neil is not supposed to be made to the "composition of the jury panel," but rather is made to the discriminatory practices of the prosecutor. "It may be that no

members of a particular race will be on a given jury because of the racial composition of the community as reflected by the random section of the venire or because all members of that race will have been challenged for specific reasons relating to the case. Parties are only constitutionally entitled to the assurance that peremptory challenges will not be exercised so as to exclude members of discrete racial groups solely by virtue of their affiliation." Kibler v. State, supra at 713. Here, defense counsel effectively lodged his objection to the prosecutor's improper challenge, preserving the issue for review. thereafter no reason whatsoever to move to strike the panel, as the remaining jurors were competent to serve (despite their In <u>Kibler</u>, the trial judge refused to dismiss the jury on the ground that the prosecutor used racially motivated strikes. That opinion nowhere provides that a motion to dismiss the panel was required to bring the issue up on appeal.

The opinion in the case at bar is also in conflict with the Fourth District Court of Appeal's decision in <u>Charles v.</u>

<u>State</u>, 565 So.2d 871 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990). In <u>Charles</u>, the court rejected the State's argument that the <u>Neil</u> issue was waived due to the defendant's response that he was satisfied with the jury panel. Despite the defendant's acceptance of the jury, the court dealt with the merits of the <u>Neil</u> issue.

The ruling in the instant opinion is also in conflict with the Third District Court of Appeal's decision in Adams v. State, 559 So.2d 1293 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990). In Adams, the district

court held specifically that the defendant had made a timely objection and preserved the Neil issue for appellate review. Again, the actions taken by the defense counsel in Adams were identical to those taken by Mr. Suggs' counsel in the case at The trial counsel: first, pointed out the juror struck by the State was black, secondly, pointed out that Adams was black, and lastly asserted that the State could not furnish a reasonable explanation for challenging the black juror. The trial judge's response showed that he had been apprised of the defendant's objection and felt that no error had occurred at this point in the proceedings. The issue was properly preserved for review. lawyer is not required to pursue a completely useless course when it would be fruitless. Thomas v. State, 419 So.2d 634 (Fla. 1982); Brown v. State, 206 So.2d 377, 384 (Fla. 1968). Requiring that defense counsel move to strike the jury panel or move for mistrial as suggested in the instant opinion, would be essentially mandating an attorney to complete a useless act.

Therefore, the decisions from this Court and from the District Courts of Appeal have never required that the complaining party move to dismiss the panel or move for mistrial in order to preserve a <u>Neil</u> issue for review on appeal. This Court should vacate the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal to the contrary.

Turning to the merits of the claim, it is clear that the prosecutor here did not have an adequate race-neutral reason for the peremptory challenge of Juror Green. This Court in State

v. Slappy, 522 So.2d at 21, indicated that the issue is not whether several jurors have been excused because of their race, but whether any jury has been so excused.

The striking of a single black juror for racial reasons violates the equal protection clause, even where other black jurors are seated, and even when there are valid reasons for the striking of some black jurors.

Id. Even the striking of one black juror is enough to make the initial showing required by the defense if that person is the only potential black juror to be seated. Reynolds v. State, 576 So.2d 1300, 1302 (Fla. 1991); Martinez v. State, 592 So.2d 688 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991); Johans v. State, 587 So.2d 1363 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991).

Here, the court apparently felt that the defense had met the initial burden and required the state to voice its reason for the challenge. See St. Louis v. State, 584 So.2d 180 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991) (wherein the appellate court reversed because of the state's lack of an adequate reasons for justifying the excusal, rejecting the state's claim that the court should not have even required the state to give a reason). That reason, then, turned out to be insufficient and blatantly pretextual.

Once the trial court requires reasons from the state for the strike, the burden of proof shifts to the state to prove race neutral and non-pretextual reasons for the strike. According to Slappy, supra at 22, this rebuttal by the state "must consist of a 'clear and reasonably specific' racially neutral explanation of 'legitimate reasons' for the state's use of its

peremptory challenges. (citing <u>Batson v. Kentucky</u>, 476 U.S. at 96-98). The court must be able to conclude from the reasons given that they are neutral and not a pretext. <u>Slappy</u>, <u>supra</u> at 22.

Five non-exclusive factors to consider which would weigh against the legitimacy of a race-neutral explanation were listed by the court in Slappy. Of those five, there are at least three are present here, as well as a fourth reason not listed in Slappy. The reasons listed in Slappy which are present here include: (1) the failure of the state to examine the juror or a perfunctory examination on the questioned issue; (2) the singling out of this juror for this question; and (3) a challenge based on reasons equally applicable to juror who were not challenged by the state. Here, the state did not question Juror Green further concerning his response that, in considering the defendant's testimony, he would listen more intently to the evidence because the defendant had prior convictions. Juror White indicated similarly that he would listen to facts of the case (yet he was not stricken by the state). No other potential jurors were questioned concerning the issue.

Additionally, and more telling as the pretextual nature of the reason is that, at first the state indicated it had no reason for the challenge. When pressed, the reason given, as recognized by the trial court, was one which would seem to be in the state's favor of wanting to keep Mr. Green on the jury.

The state is required to show convincing neutral

reasons for the strike and the absence of a pretext. Since the state utterly failed to offer a convincing rebuttal to the defense's objection, the state's explanation must be deemed a pretext. Slappy, supra at 23. If there was any doubt in the trial judge's mind as to the possibility of a racially motivated challenge, it should have been resolved in the defendant's favor. "[A] broad leeway must be accorded to the objecting party, and . . . any doubt as to the existence of a "likelihood" of impermissible bias must be resolved in the objecting party's favor." Bryant v. State, supra, quoting Slappy, supra at 21-22. The trial court, at the hearing on the motion for new trial, even indicated that the prosecutor did not have a decent reason which he could articulate for the striking of Juror Green (although the court had a "feeling" that the juror was not struck for racial reasons). (R 174)

The state, by its indication first that it had no reason, and then by giving as a reason one that should not have caused the state concern, but instead the defense, failed to rebut the inference of discrimination. It failed to offer a clear and specific, racially neutral reason for the use of its peremptory challenge, as required under Neil and Slappy. The reason must be deemed a pretext for discrimination based on defense counsel's objection.

The state thus failed to give an adequate reason, once required by the court to do so. The court erroneously indicated that the defendant had not met his burden, when, in fact, by that

time the burden had shifted to the state and the reason was wholly pretextual and unreasonable. This Court must vacate the opinion of the district court and grant a new trial.

#### CONCLUSION

BASED ON the cases, authorities, and policies cited herein, the petitioner requests that this Honorable Court vacate the decision of the District Court of Appeal, Fifth District, reverse the petitioner's judgment and sentence, and remand for a new trial.