WOOA

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA



CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By-Chief Députy Clerk

RICHARD SUGGS,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 80,529

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL FIFTH DISTRICT

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

NANCY RYAN
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Fla. Bar #765910
210 N. Palmetto Ave.
Suite 447
Daytona Beach, FL 32114
(904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The state agrees with the statement of the case and facts set out by the petitioner in his merits brief, with the following additions:

Petitioner asserts that the State's challenged peremptory strike of venire member Green involved "the only black member of the jury panel up to that point." (Merits Brief at 1) The defense, when it objected to the State's strike of Mr. Green, referred to him as "the only black juror we've gone through." (R 42)¹ The State did not disagree or establish that any other black venire members had been challenged or seated. The State responded, in part, to the challenge by stating "there's still blacks on the panel, and I haven't stricken any other blacks." (R 43) Defense counsel did not disagree with that statement or establish how many members of the venire belonged to the same minority as Mr. Green.

Venire member White, also referred to in the petitioner's merits brief, did not sit on the jury. (R 46) The transcript of jury selection does not reflect whether the defense struck Mr. White, or whether the parties reached him: jury selection was complete by the time the parties had seated, or struck, jurors

Pages 36-45 of the transcript of the jury selection proceedings in this case have been attached as Appendix A to this brief.

 $^{^2}$ The petitioner correctly states in his merits brief that the record indicates Ms. Morter, a venire member struck by the defense, is Hispanic. (R 43-4)

one through eleven. (R 40-5) Eighteen venire members participated in voir dire. (R 12)

The State responded to the <u>Neil/Slappy</u> challenge first by protesting that no substantial likelihood of discrimination was shown by the one strike, and second, by stating that

one of [Juror Green's] responses was to [defense counsel's] announcing that—well, I don't have a reason, Judge, to be honest with the Court. I don't have a reason. I just have a bad feeling about him. I'm making an election to strike him.

THE COURT: Why?

THE STATE: When [defense counsel] announced that his client had some priors and was on probation, and he asked him how he felt about that. He said I'm going to have to look at the evidence a little bit more carefully.

THE COURT: I'm going to ask you again. Why did you strike Mr. Green?

THE STATE: Based on his response to Mr. Jewett's question about the client having a prior record. Once he found that out.

THE COURT: Mr. Jewett, any response?

MR. JEWETT: Nothing. I don't know anything is required, Your Honor.

(R 42-4) The exchange between Mr. Jewett and Mr. Green referred to by the State was as follows:

³ State v. Neil, 457 So. 2d 481 (Fla. 1984); State v. Slappy, 522
So. 2d 18 (Fla. 1988).

MR. JEWETT: ...we anticipate [the defendant is] going to be testifying. He has some prior convictions. He has been convicted of felonies before this trial. Is that going-well, what are you going to think about that? Mr. Green, will that make you judge his testimony?

MR. GREEN: Make me listen more intently to the actual evidence in this case.

MR. JEWETT: How about you, Mr. White?

MR. WHITE: I'd just listen to the facts.

MR. JEWETT: Anyone who's going to think because he's a convicted felon he's any less reliable? ...You'll probably hear in addition to his convictions he was currently on probation. Is that going to make any difference to anybody here?

[no response by jurors]

(R 36-7) The court ruled as follows:

THE COURT: Okay. The mere fact that one is stricken, I don't think, shows any type of pattern....I don't think the defense has sustained its burden, and I'm going to allow the strikes....I think quite frankly, I think all this is a tremendous overreaction to these Neil inquiries about discrimination. I think that the court ought to be totally sensitive if there's any indication that it's racially motivated. But by the same token the courts have still allowed peremptory challenges...for whatever reason.... When you start striking based upon race or religion nationality or begin--that's something else again. I don't have any indication that is the case here. So I'm going to allow the strikes.

(R 44-5)

Judge Conrad's ruling on the motion for new trial was as follows:

THE COURT: ...in listening to the entire proceeding I was convinced that although [the state] could not articulate one, that the reason—that the juror was not struck for racial reasons. And that was my feeling.

(R 174)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The State submits that the district court correctly applied its decision in <u>Joiner v. State</u>, 593 So. 2d 554 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992), <u>review pending</u> no. 79,567 (Fla. 1992), and held that the <u>Neil</u> objection made at trial was not properly preserved for appeal.

The <u>Neil</u> objection was also properly rejected by the trial court. The defense did not show a substantial likelihood that the State's single challenged peremptory strike was race-based; and the reason given by the State for striking Mr. Green was reasonable and race-neutral.

ARGUMENT

THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY HELD THAT THE ARGUMENT NOW MADE WAS NOT PRESERVED FOR APPEAL; THE DEFENSE FAILED TO SHOW THAT THE SINGLE CHALLENGED PEREMPTORY STRIKE WAS RACE-BASED: THE STATE **GAVE** AN ADEQUATE REASON FOR THE STRIKE.

Preservation.

The district court's decision in this case should be approved, since the sole argument made on appeal was not properly preserved for appellate review. The Fifth District's decision in Joiner v. State, 593 So. 2d 554 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992), review pending no. 79,567 (Fla. 1992), has been adopted by the Third and First District Courts of Appeal, and the state submits that it is correct. See Brown v. State, 606 So. 2d 742 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992); Moorehead v. State, 597 So. 2d 841 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1992); Johnson v. State, 593 So. 2d 1237 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1992).

The district court in <u>Joiner</u> held that the party challenging a peremptory strike must clearly indicate to the trial court what remedy is desired. This court has held that if strikes are in fact exercised on an impermissible basis, the challenging party is entitled in some circumstances to have the panel struck, and in others to have a challenged juror, or jurors, seated. <u>Jefferson v. State</u>, 595 So. 2d 38 (Fla. 1992); <u>State v. Castillo</u>, 486 So. 2d 565 (Fla. 1986); <u>State v. Neil</u>, 457 So. 2d 481, 486-7 (Fla. 1984). If the challenging party requests neither remedy, the trial court is reasonable to conclude that neither is desired. An objection to a strike or series of strikes does not preserve the point for appeal if the challenging party acquiesces

in whatever action the trial court takes. See Castor v. State, 365 So. 2d 701 (Fla. 1978).

Moreover, where, as here, the challenging party expresses satisfaction with the jury panel chosen by the parties, that party has affirmatively waived appellate review of any prior challenges. See Ray v. State, 403 So. 2d 956, 962 (Fla. 1981). In Joiner, Moorehead, and Brown, supra, either defense counsel or the defendant, or both, expressly stated that the jury panel chosen by the parties was acceptable; in this case, Mr. Suggs's lawyer stated, albeit equivocally, that the panel was acceptable. If a lawyer who makes a Neil challenge believes that his client will be deprived of an impartial jury by the action the trial judge took on the challenge, it is incumbent on that lawyer to so advise the trial court, before the jury is sworn, while the court can still correct the perceived problem. Castor v. State, supra; State v. Castillo, supra, 486 So. 2d at 565 (Neil objection not preserved for appeal unless made before jury sworn); Floyd v. State, 569 So. 2d 1225, 1229-30 (Fla. 1990) (Neil objection not preserved where challenging party accepts factual accuracy of striking party's explanation). See also Jefferson v. State, supra, 595 So. 2d at 41 (Neil protects right to an impartial jury, not the right to peremptory challenges).

The respondent submits that <u>Joiner</u> correctly applies this court's precedents and that the district court's decisions in Joiner and in this case should be approved.

Merits.

If this court rejects the argument set out above, the State submits that the district court's decision approving petitioner's conviction should still be approved. The defense did not show a substantial likelihood that the single challenged peremptory strike was race-based; and the reason given by the State for striking Mr. Green was reasonable and race-neutral.

The petitioner, in his merits brief, refers to Mr. Green as "the lone black juror in the jury box." (Merits brief at 6, 14) The defense, at jury selection, did not object to the State's assertion that there were "still blacks on the panel" after Mr. Green was struck. The record, accordingly, establishes that Mr. Green was one of at least three African-American venire members available for jury service that day. See Floyd v. State, 569 So. 2d 1225 (Fla. 1990). Reynolds v. State, 576 So. 2d 1300 (Fla. 1991), is accordingly inapplicable to this case; in Reynolds, this court held that where only one member of a minority is available for jury service, the party that strikes that potential juror may be required to explain the strike. The rule of Reynolds was born of necessity; the challenging party cannot, of course, show a pattern of strikes that suggests discrimination when there is only one minority member present.

As the trial court found in this case, the fact that the State's first peremptory strike was against an African-American does not meet the challenging party's burden to show a strong likelihood that the strike was based on race. Judge Conrad's finding on that point correctly applied this court's decisions.

Compare Taylor v. State, 583 So. 2d 323 (Fla. 1991) (peremptory strike of one of four black potential jurors insufficient to shift burden, where strike had effect of placing another black potential juror on venire) and Woods v. State, 490 So. 2d 24 (Fla. 1986) (five of ten peremptories against potential black jurors, two of which were patently race-neutral, insufficient to shift burden) with Blackshear v. State, 521 So. 2d 1083 (Fla. 1988) (eight of ten peremptories used to strike all potential black jurors; pattern shown) and State v. Jones, 485 So. 2d 1283 (Fla. 1986) (five of six peremptories used to strike all potential black jurors; pattern shown).

The State's reason for striking Mr. Green was reasonable and race-neutral. The petitioner argues that Mr. Green's comment about viewing the evidence more closely would have supported a strike by the defense, but not by the State. The comment, again, was this:

MR. JEWETT: ...we anticipate [the defendant is] going to be testifying. He has some prior convictions. He has been convicted of felonies before this trial. Is that going-well, what are you going to think about that? Mr. Green, will that make you judge his testimony?

MR. GREEN: Make me listen more intently to the actual evidence in this case.

The petitioner's argument assumes that Mr. Green meant that he would closely scrutinize whatever the defense submitted. On the contrary, Mr. Green may well have meant that having heard Mr. Suggs was a convicted felon, he would make a concerted effort to

put that fact out of his mind during the trial so as not to judge the defendant by his record, but instead by "the actual evidence." The facts that the defense did not challenge Mr. Green for cause, or peremptorily strike him, or object to the State's explanation for its strike, all suggest that it was clear from Mr. Green's tone and manner that he was not announcing bias against the defendant.

As this court recently held,

we must rely on the superior vantage point of the trial judge, who is present, can consider the demeanor of those involved, and can get a feel for what is going on in the jury selection process.... Substituting an appellate court's judgment for that of the trial judge on the basis of a cold record is not a solution because it would provide an automatic appeal in every case where a prospetive minority juror was challenged.

Files v. State, 17 Fla. L. Weekly 742, 744 (Fla. December 12, 1992). Accord Reed v. State, 560 So. 2d 203, 206 (Fla. 1990). Judge Conrad expressly found "in listening to the entire proceeding" that the State's strike was not an act of racial discrimination; the petitioner is asking this court to second-guess the trial judge's conclusion.

The petitioner also argues that the fact the State did not strike potential juror White suggests that striking Mr. Green was probably race-based. The record does not show whether or not the defense struck Mr. White, and does not show whether or not the parties reached him in jury selection; the panel was chosen after eleven of the eighteen jurors were seated or struck. Moreover,

Mr. White's words were neutral, and his demeanor may have been equally neutral. Files, supra; Reed, supra. Also, Messrs. Green and White were not, as the petitioner asserts, singled out for questioning during voir dire; defense counsel asked the panel as a whole, and Green and White individually, if they would assume that a convicted felon is probably guilty.

The record of this case shows no abuse of discretion. Files, supra. The district court's decision should be approved.

CONCLUSION

The State requests this court to approve the decision and opinion of the district court.